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UNIVERSITY OF WOLLONGONG’S CONTROLLED ENTITIES

The Financial Statements of the University of Wollongong’s Controlled Entities are presented here to meet Section 7 (1)(a)(1a) of the 
Annual Reports (Statutory Bodies) Act 1984 (NSW).

The 2018 University of Wollongong Annual Report is contained in a separate edition and can be viewed on the University’s website at: 
https://www.uow.edu.au/about/publications/index.html

For more comprehensive information on each of the Controlled Entities we encourage you to view their individual annual reports as 
prepared and presented to the University of Wollongong Council and New South Wales Parliament in June of each year.
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The members of the Board of Governors of UOW College Hong Kong ("UOWCHK" or "the Company"), have the pleasure in 
submitting their annual report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018. 

Members of Board of Governors 

The members of the Board of Governors, appointed from 1 March 2019 up to the date of the report were: 

Names 
Peter Hammond ROBSON 
Nicholas BROOKE 
CHOW Wing-shing, Vincent * 
FONG Man Hung, David  
MOK Wai Kun, Barbara 
PANG Yuk Wing, Joseph 
Robert James RYAN 
Gregory Charles WEST * 
CHIU Lai Har, Rebecca 
FENG Gang, Gary 
Clayton MACKENZIE 
Paul William WELLINGS 
Alessandro  FRINO * 
Jose Fernando CHICHARO 
Damien John ISRAEL * 
Marisa MASTROIANNI * 
NG Glok-hong,Jennifer   * 
 

* Indicates the members of the previous Board of Management during the financial year and up to 1 March 2019. 

As there is no provision in UOWCHK's Articles of Association for the annual retirement of the Board of Governors by rotation, 
all current members continue in office. 

Transition from Board of Management to Board of Governors 

UOWCHK has commenced the processes to obtain independent institutional registration with the Hong Kong Education 
Bureau under the CAP 320 Post-Secondary Colleges Ordinance (CAP 320). It is a requirement of the Co-Operation Deed 
executed with the City University of Hong Kong (CityU) that UOWCHK obtain registration independent from CityU.  CAP 320 
registration will enable UOWCHK to independently offer its Associate Degree and Degree programs. 

CAP 320 prescribes certain governance structures, including that the institution be governed by a Board of Governors of at 
least 10 members, and that its committees include an Academic Board and a College Council.  As a CAP320 institution, 
UOWCHK shall be governed by a Board of Governors, replacing the Board of Management. 

As of the date of signing of this report, the Company is still awaiting final approvals from the Hong Kong SAR 
Government.  It is expected that these approvals will be given during 2019. 

The Board of Governors effectively took control and responsiblity of the Company from 1 March 2019. 
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Principal place of address 

UOWCHK is a company limited by guarantee under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and is incorporated and domiciled 
in Hong Kong and has its registered office and principle place of business at: 

 
Room 6104, 6/F 
Li Dak Sum Yip Yio Chin Academic Building 
City University of Hong Kong 
Tat Chee Avenue 
Kowloon Tong 
Kowloon 

Principal activities 

The principal activities of UOWCHK are to provide education programmes leading to the award of Associate Degrees, Degrees 
of the University of Wollongong and other programmes leading to awards from UOWCHK. UOWCHK also provides other 
professional and short courses not leading to any formal awards for the benefit of the community. 

Change of stewardship and company name 

The stewardship of UOWCHK was transferred from City University of Hong Kong ("CityU") to University of Wollongong 
("UOW") on 1 July 2015. 

In November 2017, it was announced that the College and legal entity would be renamed "UOW College Hong Kong". The 
entity name was changed on 4 December 2017. The Company retains Community College of City University as a business 
name. 

Review and results of operations 

The profit for the 12 months to 31 December 2018 was $55,980,000 (2017: $100,576,000). 

The result reflects the maintenance of market share for Associate Degree students amidst a demographic decline in school 
leavers at UOW College Hong Kong.  The result was assisted by the full year effect of new Associate Diploma introduced in 
2017 plus the growth in the UOW Top-Up courses.  The previous year included the unrealised gain on managed funds held 
within the CCCU Trust ($37,592,000) whilst the current year was an unrealised loss of $1,023,000.  

The development of a new Hong Kong campus at Tai Wai continues with the concept design finalised and interior design 
consultants appointed. At this stage, the grant whilst announced does not provide any legal obligation until a Tenancy 
Agreement and a Service Agreement are agreed and executed. 

Transfer of funds to CCCU Trust 

Upon the transfer of the stewardship of UOWCHK from CityU to UOW on 1 July 2015, CityU held the funds as trustee for 
UOWCHK in accordance with the Trust Deed dated 1 July 2015. The Trust Deed was entered into between CityU, UOWCHK 
and UOWD Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of UOW. CityU holds the funds on trust to invest or apply for operation of UOWCHK 
subject to the powers and provisions set out in the Trust Deed. Further information is provided on note 7 of the financial 
statements. 

Development funds 

Details of the movements in development funds of UOWCHK during the financial year are set out on page 11 of the financial 
statements. 



UOW College Hong Kong  

Report of the Board of Governors 
For the year ended 31 December 2018 

3 

Members' interest in transactions, arrangements or contracts 

During the financial year, UOWCHK had transactions with related parties as set out in note 22 of the financial statements. 

No contract of significance to which UOWCHK, UOW or any of the UOW's subsidiaries was a party, and in which a member 
of the Board of Governors of UOWCHK had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the financial year or at any time during 
the financial year. 

Apart from the above, at no time during the financial year was UOWCHK, UOW or any of the UOW's subsidiaries a party to 
any arrangement to enable the members of the Board of Governors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares 
in or debentures of any other body corporate. 

Retirement scheme 

UOWCHK operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes 
Ordinance for its employees. The scheme is a defined contribution scheme administered by independent trustees. UOWCHK 
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees' salaries, subject to a cap 
of monthly salary of $HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately. 

Management contracts 

UOWCHK did not enter into any contract, other than the contracts of service with the members of the Board of Governors or 
any person engaged in full-time employment of UOWCHK, by which a person undertakes the management and administration 
of the whole, or any substantial part of any business of UOWCHK during the year. 

Rounding off 

Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest 
dollar. 

Permitted Indemnity Provision 

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of this report, there was or is any permitted indemnity provision being 
in force for the benefit of any members of the Board of Governors of UOWCHK (whether made by UOWCHK or otherwise) or 
of its associated company (made by UOWCHK). 

Auditors 

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the 
re-appointment of Grant Thornton as auditors of UOWCHK is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General meeting. 

For Australian reporting compliance, the auditors are The Audit Office of New South Wales  

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Governors: 

 

 

Member: .. 
  Robson, Peter 

 

 

Member: ................................................................ 
Ng Glok-hong, Jennifer 

Dated this 19th day of March 2019 
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983, and in accordance with the resolution of the Board of 
Governors, we declare that in our opinion: 

 (i) The accompanying financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the financial position of UOW College Hong 
Kong as at 31 December 2018 and financial performance for the financial year then ended. 

 (ii) The financial statements and notes have been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board 

 (iii) The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit 
Act 1983 and the Public Finance Audit Regulation 2015 

Further we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars included in the financial statements to be 
misleading or inaccurate. 

 

 

 

Member.............................................................................................................................................. 

                                                                Peter Robson 

 

 

 

Member............................................................................................................................................. 

                                                              Ng Glok-hong, Jennifer 

 

Dated this 19th day of March 2019 

Hong Kong  
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In accordance with a resolution of the members of the Board of Governors of the Company, we state that:  

(i) The attached are general purpose financial statements and present a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Company as at 31 December 2018 and of the performance for the financial year then ended; 

(ii) The Financial Statements and notes have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Public Finance 
and Audit Act 1983 and the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015; 

(iii) The Financial Statements and notes have been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board; 

(iv) The financial statements are also in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board; 

(v) We are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements to 
be misleading or inaccurate; and 

(vi) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will not be able to pay its debts as and when they fall 
due 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board; 

 

 

 

Member.............................................................................................................................................. 

                                                                Peter Robson 

 

 

 

Member.............................................................................................................................................  

                                                              Ng Glok-hong, Jennifer 

 

Dated this 19th day of March 2019 

Hong Kong  
 
 

 
 

 
 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
UOW College Hong Kong

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of UOW College Hong Kong (UOWCHK), which 
comprise the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
31 December 2018, the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2018, the Statement of 
Cash Flows and the Statement of Changes in Funds for the year then ended, notes comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In my opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of UOWCHK as at 31 December 2018, and of 
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015.

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report.

Basis for Opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’
section of my report. 

I am independent of UOWCHK in accordance with the requirements of the:

• Australian Auditing Standards
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110).

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110.

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor–General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by:

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor–General

• mandating the Auditor–General as auditor of public sector agencies
• precluding the Auditor–General from providing non-audit services.

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

Other Information
Other information comprises the information included in UOWCHK’s annual report for the year ended 
31 December 2018, other than the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. 
The Directors of UOWCHK are responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent 
Auditor’s Report, the other information I have received comprise the:

• Report of the Board of Management



• Certificate under the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983
• Members Declaration.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information.
In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact.

I have nothing to report in this regard.

The Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such internal control as 
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing UOWCHK’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting except where UOWCHK will be dissolved by an Act of Parliament 
or otherwise cease operations.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
My objectives are to:

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take based
on the financial statements.

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.
The description forms part of my auditor’s report.

My opinion does not provide assurance:

• that UOWCHK carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements.

Dominika Ryan
Director, Financial Audit Services

26 April 2019
SYDNEY
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The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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 Note 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 
Tuition Revenue 2  300,793   310,817  
Other fees 2  16,740   13,903  
Net (loss) / gain arising on financial assets designated as at fair value 2  (1,023)   37,592  
Other income 2  5,062   2,142  

   321,572   364,454  

    
Employee related expenses   (111,204)   (116,135)  
Depreciation and amortisation expense 3  (4,030)   (3,158)  
Administrative and site expenses   (50,462)   (47,693)  
Marketing expenses   (1,533)   (2,167)  
City University of Hong Kong management fees   (61,417)   (66,075)  
Other expenses   (36,946)   (28,650)  

   (265,592)   (263,878)  

Profit for the year   55,980   100,576  

Other comprehensive income    
Other comprehensive income for the year   -   -  

Total comprehensive income for the year   55,980   100,576  
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The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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 Note 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 

Assets    
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 5  270,202   219,028  
Trade and other receivables 6  22,376   18,810  
Total current assets   292,578   237,838  
Non-current assets    
Other financial assets 7  903,846   904,928  
Property, plant and equipment 8  4,847   6,752  
Intangible assets 9  6,581   3,914  
Total non-current assets   915,274   915,594  
Total Assets   1,207,852   1,153,432  

Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 10  29,232   29,991  
Short-term provisions 11  4,367   4,384  
Other liabilities 12  16,148   16,932  
Total current liabilities   49,747   51,307  
Non-current liabilities    
Total non-current liabilities   -   -  
Total liabilities   49,747   51,307  
Net assets   1,158,105   1,102,125  
 

Development Funds    
Capital contribution reserve 14  38,851   38,851  
Surplus reserve 15  1,119,254   1,063,274  

   1,158,105   1,102,125  
Total equity   1,158,105   1,102,125  
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The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
10 

 Note 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 

Cash flows from operating activities:    
Receipts from student fees and other customers   316,122   359,737  
Payments to suppliers   (263,766)   (316,611)  

Net cash flow from operating activities 18(b)  52,356   43,126  
 

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (625)   (1,640)  
Purchase of intangible assets   (4,167)   (1,391)  
Interest received   3,610   925  
Managed fund distribution received   1,452   1,217  
Managed fund re-investment   (1,452)   (1,217)  

Net cash flows (used in) investing activities   (1,182)   (2,106)  
 
 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    51,174   41,020  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   219,028   178,008  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 5,18(a)  270,202   219,028  
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The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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2018     

 Note 

Capital 
Contribution 

Reserve 
HK$'000 

Surplus 
Reserve 
HK$'000 

Total 
HK$'000 

Balance at 1 January 2018   38,851   1,063,274   1,102,125  

Comprehensive income  
   

Profit for the year   -   55,980   55,980  
Other comprehensive income   -   -   -  

Balance at 31 December 2018 14,15  38,851   1,119,254   1,158,105  
 
2017     

 Note 

Capital 
Contribution 

Reserve 
HK$'000 

Surplus 
Reserve 
HK$'000 

Total 
HK$'000 

Balance at 1 January 2017   38,851   962,698   1,001,549  

Comprehensive income  
   

Profit for the year 
 

 -   100,576   100,576  
Other comprehensive income   -   -   -  

Balance at 31 December 2017 14,15  38,851   1,063,274   1,102,125  
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1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

(a) Basis of Preparation  

The financial statements are prepared for Australia and are general purpose financial statements which have been 
prepared on an accrual basis in accordance with the requirements of the Public and Finance and Audit Act 1983, 
Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015, applicable Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting 
Interpretations and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board ("AASB"). 

For the purpose of the financial reporting, the Company is a not-for-profit entity. 

The Company is incorporated as a company limited by guarantee under the Hong Kong Company Ordinance. 

The financial statements have been prepared for the 12 months up to and including 31 December 2018.  

The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Governors on 
19th March 2019. 

(b) Statement of compliance  

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars which is the Company's functional currency and 
figures are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000), or in certain cases the nearest dollar. The financial 
statements are prepared on a historical cost basis. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of 
which form the basis for making the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are 
described in note 1. 

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial 
statements and are consistent with prior reporting periods unless otherwise stated. 

 



UOW College Hong Kong 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018 

 

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
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(c) Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and on hand and term 
deposits with a maturity of three months or less, that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents 
as defined above plus current other financial assets. 

(d) Trade and other receivables  

Trade receivables, which generally have 30 day terms, are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at this value, less an allowance for impairment. 

Short term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect 
of discounting is immaterial. 

Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Individual debts that are known to be collectable are 
written off when identified. An impairment provision is recognised when there is objective evidence that the 
Company will not be able to collect the receivable.  

(e) Other financial assets  

          (i) Held-to-maturity investments 

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturities that the Company's management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 

These investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Changes are recognised 
in the net result for the period when impaired, derecognised or through the amortisation process. 

          (ii) Other financial assets - Funds invested in CCCU Trust 

Other financial assets, comprising principally managed funds held by CCCU Trust, are non-derivatives that are 
designated in this category. They are included in non-current assets unless the Company intends to dispose of 
the investment within 12 months of the reporting date. 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition a 
financial asset can be classified and measured as: amortised cost; FVOCI (fair value through other comprehensive 
income) - debt investment; FVOCI - equity investment; or FVTPL (fair value through profit or loss). 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Trust changes its business 
model for managing financial assets in which one case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day 
of the first reporting period following the change in the business model. 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated 
as FVTPL: 

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and 

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding 
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(f) Property, plant and equipment  

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Costs include expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 

Items of plant and equipment less than HK$5,000 are expensed in the period of the acquisition. 

(i) Subsequent additional costs   

The Company recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of 
replacing part of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that future economic benefits 
embodied within the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All 
other costs are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an expense 
incurred. 

(ii) Depreciation   

The depreciation amount of all fixed assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the asset's useful 
life to the Company commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements 
are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of 
the improvements. 

An asset's residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 
at each financial year end. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of assets are shown below: 

 
Class of assets Depreciation rate % 
Leasehold improvement  20 or duration of lease  
   - Plant and equipment  20 to 25  
   - Furniture and fittings  20 to 25  
Computer Equipment  33.33  

(iii) Derecognition   

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. 
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(g) Financial instruments  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument, and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by transactions costs, 
except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured initially at fair value. Subsequent 
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, 
or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is 
derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. On initial recognition, all financial 
instruments are measured at fair value plus transaction costs (except for instruments measured at fair value 
through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed as incurred). 

 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets      

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component, all financial assets are 
initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable). 

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following categories upon 
initial recognition:  

• amortised cost 

• fair value through profit or loss -  ("FVPL") 

• equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI")   

• debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") 

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within 
finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is 
presented within other expenses.   

Classifications are determined by both: 

• the entities business model for managing the financial asset 

• the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets  

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within 
finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables, which is 
presented within other expenses. 

Subsequent measurement financial assets  

Financial assets at amortised cost  

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not 
designated as FVPL):  

  - they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its 
contractual cash flows 
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   - the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding  

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is 
omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and 
most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments as well as government bonds that were 
previously classified as held to maturity under AASB 139. 

 Trade receivables 

The Company makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables as well as 
contract assets and records the loss allowance at the amount equal to the expected lifetime credit losses. In 
using this practical expedient, the Company uses its historical experience, external indicators and forwardlooking 
information to calculate the expected credit losses using a provision matrix.  

The Company assess impairment of trade receivables on a collective basis as they possess credit risk 
characteristics based on the days past due. The Company reviews amounts that are past due and writes off fully 
any amounts that management believes are unlikely to be recovered and any receivables that are more than 2 
years past due. 

 Impairment of financial assets  

AASB 9’s impairment requirements use more forward looking information to recognize expected credit losses – 
the ‘expected credit losses (ECL) model’. Instruments within the scope of the new requirements included loans 
and other debt type financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, trade receivables,  and loan 
commitments and some financial guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss.  

The Company considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected 
credit losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the 
expected collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.  

In applying this forward looking approach, a distinction is made between:  

 - financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition 
or that have low credit risk (‘Stage 1’) and  

 - financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and 
whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2’).  

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date.  

‘12month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected credit losses’ are 
recognised for the second category.  

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability weighted estimate of credit losses 
over the expected life of the financial instrument. 
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 Financial liabilities   

The financial liabilities of the Company comprise trade and other payables. 

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs 
unless the Company designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.  

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for 
derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss. 

All interest related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or 
loss are included within finance costs or finance income. 

(h) Trade and other payables  

Trade and other payables are carried at fair value which is usually the transaction cost. Due to their short term 
nature they are not discounted and are interest free. They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to 
the Company prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Company becomes obliged 
to make future payments in respect of the purchases of these goods and services. Trade accounts payables are 
generally unsecured and settled within 30 days. 

(i) Employee benefits  

    (i) Wages and salaries and annual leave 

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave that are expected to be settled with 12 
months of the reporting date represent present obligations resulting from employees' services provided to the 
reporting date. The calculations are based on undiscounted amounts which include remuneration wage and salary 
rates that the Company expects to pay as at reporting date including related on costs, such as contributions to 
defined contribution retirement plans. 

    (ii) Long service leave 

The Company's net obligation in respect of long service benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees 
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. 

    (iii) Defined contribution retirement plans - Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme 

A defined retirement contribution plan is a post employment benefit plan under which the Company pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay future amounts. 
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense as incurred.  

(j) Provisions  

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for 
which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.  
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(k) Revenue recognition  

The Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the Company and specific criteria have been met for each of the Company's activities 
as discussed below. 

      (i) Tuition fees 

Student income is recognised over the period of the course or program once the student has accepted an offer 
and enrolled in the course or program. Fees for students who have enrolled and paid prior to year end, for a course 
commencing in the following year, are recognised as income received in advance. 

      (ii) Government subfunding 

Revenue from government funding is recognised at fair value where the Company obtains control of the right to 
receive the grant, it is probable that economic benefit will flow to the Company and it can be reliably measured. 

      (iii) Interest income 

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method. 

      (iv) Sale of non-current assets 

The sale of non-current assets are recognised at the date control of the asset passes to the buyer, usually when 
an unconditional contract of sale is signed. 

The gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time 
of the disposal and the net proceeds on disposal (including incidental costs). 

      (v) Managed funds distribution 

Managed Funds distributions are recognised as income when they are declared by the Fund Manager. 

(l) Foreign currency   

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currency of the Company at exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in foreign currencies at the 
reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate at that date. 

Exchange differences relating to amounts payable and receivable in foreign currencies are brought to account as 
exchange gains or losses in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the financial year 
in which the exchange rates change. 

(m) Taxation  

UOWCHK is exempted from payment of Hong Kong Profits Tax by virtue of section 88 of the Hong Kong Inland 
Revenue Ordinance 



UOW College Hong Kong 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018 

 

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

19 

(n) Intangible Assets  
    (i) Accreditation costs 

Accreditation costs are recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the period that 
accreditation approval is given. 

Accreditation costs have a finite useful life. The period of accreditation approval is three years. It is assessed 
annually for impairment. 

(o) Development funds  

Development funds comprise of a capital contribution reserve and a surplus reserve. 

(p) New Accounting Standards effective on or after 1 January 2019  

The AASB has issued new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have a mandatory 
application date for future reporting periods. Other than the exception noted below, the Company has decided 
against early adoption of these standards. 

The impact of the standards most relevant to the Company are outlined below: 

AASB 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers will have application from 1 January 2019. The standard 
establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognised. 
The change is not expected to materially impact the Company's financial statements. 

AASB 16 - Leases 

AASB 16, which will apply from its mandatory adoption date of 1 January 2019, will result in almost all leases 
being recognised on the balance sheet by the Company, as the distinction between operating and finance leases 
is removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay 
rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are short term and low-value leases. 

The Company is currently reviewing all of its leasing arrangements in light of the new lease accounting standard. 
The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the Company's operating leases. As at the reporting date, the 
Company has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of $60,977,000, refer to note 19. For these lease 
commitments, the Company expects to recognise right-of-use assets of approximately $152,739,000 on 1 January 
2019 and lease liabilities of $152,785,000. Overall net assets will be approximately $46,000 lower. The impact on 
the net profit is considered to be immaterial over the life of the leases. The Company does not act as a lessor. 
Some additional disclosures will also be required. 

The above disclosures exclude the proposed Tai Wai campus development, which at the date of this report, has 
yet to have a formally executed lease agreement.  

The Company intends to apply the simplified transition approach and will not restate comparative amounts for the 
year prior to first adoption. Right-of-use assets for property leases will be measured on transition as if the new 
rules had always been applied. All other right-of-use assets will be measured at the amount of the lease liability 
on adoption. 
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(q) Critical accounting estimates and judgments  

The Board of Governors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statements based on 
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future 
events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Company. 

Estimation uncertainty   

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and 
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially 
different.  

Impairment   

In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset or cashgenerating unit 
based on expected future cash flows and uses an interest rate to discount them. Estimation uncertainty relates 
to assumptions about future operating results and the determination of a suitable discount rate.  

Useful lives of depreciable assets  

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the 
expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence or other 
marketdriven changes . 

(r) Related parties  

For the purpose of these financial statements, a party is considered to be related to the Company if: 

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person's family and if that person: 

 (i) has control or joint control of the Company; 

 (ii) has significant influences over the Company; or 

 (iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or of a parent of the Company. 

(b) The party is an entity and if any of the following conditions apply: 

 (i) the entity and the Company are members of the same group; 

 (ii) one entity is associated or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member 
 
 of a group of which the other entity is a member); 

 (iii) the entity and the Company are joint ventures of the same party; 

 (iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity; 

 (v)) the entity is a post employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Company or an 
 entity related to the Company; 
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 (vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); 

 (vii) a person identified in a(i) has a significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
  
 management personnel of the entity  (or of a parent of the entity); 

 (viii) the entity, or any other member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
 
 services to the Company or to the part of the Company. 

Close family members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or 
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity. 

(s) Impairment of assets  

The carrying amounts of the Company's assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is 
an indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets recoverable amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, unless an asset has previously been revalued, in which case the impairment loss is 
recognised as a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with any excess recognised through the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Impairment losses are recognised in respect of cash generating units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount 
of assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. 

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discounted rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does 
not generate largely independent cash flows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit 
to which the asset belongs. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest 
group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
of other assets or group in assets (the "cash generating unit")  

(t) Leases  

Leases of assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not the 
legal ownership are transferred to the Company, are classified as finance leases. Other leases are classified as 
operating leases and are not recognised on the Company's statement of financial position. 

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are 
charged as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. Payments made under operating leases are 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the term 
of the lease. 
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(u) Government grants  

Grants from the government are recognised at the fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and the Company will comply with all the attached conditions. Government grants are deferred 
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that the grants are 
intended to compensate. 

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross, under "Other revenue " in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income. 
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2 Revenue   

An analysis of the Company's revenue for the year is as follows: 

  

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

Fees and charges    
- Tuition fees   295,865   306,068  
- Other tuition related fees   4,928   4,749  

Total tuition revenue   300,793   310,817  

 
 

  

Unrealised (loss)/ gains on managed funds    (1,023)   37,592  

Other revenue    
- Interest income   3,610   925  
- Other fees    16,740   13,903  
- Managed funds distribution   1,452   1,217  

Total other revenue   21,802   16,045  

Total revenue   321,572   364,454  

 
 
 

3 Expenses  

The result for the year includes the following specific expenses: 

  

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

Depreciation    
 - Leasehold improvements   2,189   2,081  
 - Plant &equipment   109   73  
 - Computer equipment   232   214  

Total depreciation   2,530   2,368  

Amortisation    
 - Accreditation   1,500   790  

Total depreciation and amortisation   4,030   3,158  

    
Contributions to defined contribution retirement scheme   3,325   3,535  

Rental expenses relating to operating leases    
 - Minimum lease payments   22,850   20,439  
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4 Income tax expense  

UOWCHK is exempted from payment of Hong Kong Profits Tax by virtue of section 88 of the Hong Kong Inland Revenue 
Ordinance. 

 

5 Cash and cash equivalents  

 

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

   
Bank balances  79,931   88,969  
Short-term deposits  190,212   130,000  
Cash on hand  59   59  

  270,202   219,028  

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents. The Company's exposure to 
interest rate risk is disclosed in note 21. 

 

6 Trade and other receivables  

 

 Note 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 

Net receivable from related parties    
  -  CCCU Trust 22(b)  320   206  
  -  University of Wollongong 22(b)  -   107  
Students   1,797   1,618  

   2,117   1,931  
Other receivables   1,172   302  
Prepayments and deposits   19,087   16,577  

Total current  receivables   22,376   18,810  
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(a) Past due but not impaired   

As 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows: 
   

 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 
   

0-30 days  340   286  
31 - 60 days  89   26  
61 - 90 days  1,685   1,098  
91 + days  3   521  

  2,117   1,931  

Receivables past due but not considered impaired are $1,777,000 (2017: $1,645,000) for the Company as 
management have undertaken a review of the current receivables listings and in their opinion they expect these 
receivables will be received. 

Other balances within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It is 
expected these other balances will be received when due. 

 (b)   Deposits held as security 

The amount of UOWCHK's trade and other receivables expected to be recovered after more than one year is 
$13,058,000 (2017: $13,058,000) and represents various deposits held as security. 

(c) Fair value and credit risk 

Due to the short term nature of the current receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair 
value. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of the receivables. No collateral is held as security. 
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7 Other financial assets- Investment in CCCU Trust  

  

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

Funds invested in CCCU Trust   903,846   904,928  

(a) Transfer of funds to CCCU Trust 

Upon the transfer of stewardship of UOWCHK from City University of Hong Kong (CityU) to UOW on 1 July 2015, CityU 
held the funds as trustee for UOWCHK in accordance with the Trust Deed dated 1 July 2015 ("CCCU Trust"). The Trust 
Deed was entered into among CityU, UOWCHK and UOWD Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of UOW for which CityU 
holds the funds on trust to invest or apply for operation of UOWCHK subject to the powers and provisions set out in the 
Trust Deed. 

The amount of the funds transferred to CCCU Trust, effective 1 July 2015 was $879,805,000.  

(b) Impairment and risk exposure 

None of the other financial assets are either past due or impaired. 

With the exception of 7(c) below, all other financial assets are denominated in Hong Kong currency. As a result, there is 
no exposure to foreign currency risk. 

(c) Managed funds 

In late 2016, UOWCHK entered into an agreement for investment advisory services from Mercer Global Investments 
Europe Limited. In late January 2017, the initial transfer of HK$800,000,000 was transferred from bank term deposits to 
an investment in a range of US dollar denominated managed funds, on behalf of the Trust. 

The revised investment mandate will firstly provide an exposure to movements in the US dollar and secondly result in 
more variable investment returns when compared to the returns from Hong Kong bank term deposits. 

The Trust recognises managed fund distributions in accordance with the accounting policy outlined in note 1(j). 

Unrealised gains or losses on fair value of managed funds, including the conversion from US dollars to Hong Kong dollars, 
are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Refer to note 21(c) (i) for details of foreign currency exposure. 

Valuation assumptions 

The fair value of the funds are derived from the daily redemption values published by the investment manager, with no 
further adjustment or discounting. 
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8 Property, plant and equipment  

 

 

Capital works 
in progress 

HK$'000 

Leasehold 
improvements 

HK$'000 

Plant and 
equipment 

HK$'000 

Computer 
equipment 

HK$'000 
Total 

HK$'000 

Year ended 31 December 2018      
Opening net book amount  -   6,093   264   395   6,752  
Additions  272   -   184   169   625  
Depreciation   -   (2,189)   (109)   (232)   (2,530)  

Closing net book amount  272   3,904   339   332   4,847  

At 31 December 2018      
Cost  272   57,706   540   4,719   63,237  
Accumulated depreciation  -   (53,802)   (201)   (4,387)   (58,390)  

Net book amount  272   3,904   339   332   4,847  

 

 

 

Capital works 
in progress 

HK$'000 

Leasehold 
improvements 

HK$'000 

Plant and 
equipment 

HK$'000 

Computer 
equipment 

HK$'000 
Total 

HK$'000 

Year ended 31 December 2017      
Opening net book amount  -   6,884   217   379   7,480  
Additions  -   1,290   120   230   1,640  
Depreciation   -   (2,081)   (73)   (214)   (2,368)  

Closing net book amount  -   6,093   264   395   6,752  

At 31 December 2017      
Cost  -   57,707   356   4,550   62,613  
Accumulated depreciation  -   (51,614)   (92)   (4,155)   (55,861)  

Net book amount  -   6,093   264   395   6,752  
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9 Intangible assets  

 

Accreditation 
costs 

HK$'000 
Total 

HK$'000 

Year ended 31 December 2018   
Opening net book amount  3,914   3,914  
Additions  4,167   4,167  
Amortisation  (1,500)   (1,500)  

Closing net book amount  6,581   6,581  

At 31 December 2018   
Cost  9,005   9,005  
Accumulated depreciation  (2,424)   (2,424)  

Net book amount  6,581   6,581  

 

 

Accreditation 
costs 

HK$'000 
Total 

HK$'000 

Year ended 31 December 2017   
Opening net book amount  3,313   3,313  
Additions  1,391   1,391  
Amortisation  (790)   (790)  

Closing net book amount  3,914   3,914  

At 31 December 2017   
Cost   4,837   4,837  
Accumulated amortisation  (923)   (923)  

Net book amount  3,914   3,914  

 

10 Trade and other payables  
    

 Note 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 
Trade Payables    
  - University of Wollongong 22  838   1,914  
  - UOWC Ltd 22  5,424   4,102  
  - City University of Hong Kong 22  17,469   18,441  
  - Other   572   433  
Non-trade payables and accruals   4,929   5,101  

   29,232   29,991  
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(a) Fair value 

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

(b) Liquidity risk 

Information regarding liquidity risk exposure is set out in note 21. 

11 Provisions  

 Provisions - current   

 

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

Liability for annual leave  3,974   3,987  
Liability for long service leave  393   397  

  4,367   4,384  

The current provision for the Company includes $196,000 of annual leave entitlements accrued but not expected to be 
taken within 12 months (2017: $229,000) 

The current provision for the Company includes $236,000 of long service leave accrued but not expected to be taken 
within 12 months (2017: $397,000) 

12 Other liabilities  

 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 
Tuition fees and amounts received in advance  13,632   5,501  
Deferred government subvention  2,516   11,431  

  16,148   16,932  

13 Long term funding arrangements  

(a) Credit card facility   

 

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

Available facility  50   50  
Used at balance date  6   -  

Unused at balance date  44   50  

The line of credit is not secured by way of lien over any UOWCHK assets or undertakings. 
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14 Capital contribution reserve  

 

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

Balance at 31 December   38,851   38,851  

The balance of capital contribution reserve represents the identifiable net assets at 1 July 2004 transferred to UOWCHK 
as the initial capital contribution upon the incorporation of UOWCHK as a separate entity. 

Capital management 

UOWCHK's objective is to establish and maintain as an education institution. UOWCHK is limited by guarantee and has 
no share capital. It is not the subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. UOWCHK's activities are mainly 
funded by capital contribution and surplus from operations. 

The development funds of UOWCHK is managed according to the financial management guidelines and procedure of 
UOWCHK in meeting its objectives with the view of safeguarding the entity's ability to continue as a going concern. 

15 Reserve  

 Surplus reserve   
   

 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 
   
Balance at beginning of financial year  1,063,274   962,698  
Net profit for the period  55,980   100,576  

Balance at end of the financial year  1,119,254   1,063,274  

16 Auditors' remuneration  

 
2018 
HKD 

2017 
HKD 

Auditors of the Company   
 - The Audit Office of New South Wales  179,714   195,183  

Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services  179,714   195,183  

The Company has also accrued and expensed HK$64,585 (2017: HK$70,144) for the audit fee payable on behalf of the 
CCCU Trust, for the preparation of financial statements for Australian reporting compliance.  
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17 Key management personnel disclosures  

The following were members of the Board of Governors of the Company at any time during the reporting period unless 
other wise indicated. 
 
Peter Hammond ROBSON 
Nicholas BROOKE 
CHOW Wing-shing, Vincent * 
FONG Man Hung, David 
MOK Wai Kun, Barbara 
PANG Yuk Wing, Joseph 
Robert James RYAN 
Gregory Charles WEST * 
CHIU Lai Har, Rebecca 
FENG Gang, Gary 
Clayton MACKENZIE 
Paul William WELLINGS 
Alessandro FRINO * 
Jose Fernando CHICHARO 
Damien John ISRAEL * 
Marisa MASTROIANNI * 
NG Glok-hong, Jennifer (i) * 

(i) Jennifer Ng Glok-Hong, Principal of UOWCHK, also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and 
controlling the activities of the Company during the year. 

* Indicates the members of the previous Board of Management during the financial year and up to 1 March 2019. 

In addition to their salary, the Company also provides non-cash benefits to the executive officer, and contributes to a post 
employment defined contributions retirement plan. 

(a) Key management personnel compensation   

Remuneration paid or payable to the members of the Board of Governors is disclosed as follows: 

 

 

2018 
HKD 

2017 
HKD 

   
Short-term employee benefits  3,041,640   3,024,711  
Post-employment benefits  18,000   18,000  

Total compensation paid  3,059,640   3,042,711  

(b) Loans to key management personnel   

No loans have been made to the members of the Board of Governors and other key management personnel of the 
Company, including their personally related parties. 
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18  Reconciliation of net result to net cash flow from operating activities  

(a) Reconciliation to cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year   

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and at bank 
and held-to-maturity investments. Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the financial year as shown in the 
statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position. 

 

  

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

As per Statement of Financial Position    
Cash and cash equivalents   270,202   219,028  

As per Statement of Cash Flows   270,202   219,028  

(b) Reconciliation of profit to net cash flows from operating activities:   

 

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

Profit for the financial year  55,980   100,576  

Adjustment for:   
 - Depreciation and amortisation  4,030   3,158  
 - Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - - 
Interest received  (3,610)   (925)  
Managed fund distribution  (1,452)   (1,217)  

Net cash provided by operating activities before change in assets and 
liabilities  54,948   101,592  

(Increase) in trade and other receivables  (3,566)   (3,992)  
Decrease / (increase) in other financial assets  2,534   (24,710)  
(Decrease) in trade and other payables  (759)   (25,748)  
(Decrease) in other liabilities  (784)   (4,251)  
(Decrease) / increase in other provisions  (17)   235  

Net cash flows from operating activities  52,356   43,126  

19  Capital and leasing commitments  

(a) Operating lease commitments   

Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements. 

 

  

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

Payable - minimum lease payments    
- Less than 1 year   23,604   20,468  
- Between 1 year and 5 years   37,373   60,977  

   60,977   81,445  
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UOWCHK is the lessee of a property held under an operating lease which runs for an initial period of three years, 
with an option, which was recently exercised, to renew the lease for another period of three years. Lease payments 
are adjusted after the expiration of the initial period of three years to reflect the market rent. The lease does not 
include contingent rental. 

(b) Capital expenditure commitments   

 

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

Contracted commitments for:   

Payable   
- Less than 1 year  6,181   -  

  6,181   -  

20 Deferred government subvention  
 
 

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

Matching Grant for the Pilot Mainland Experience Scheme for PS Students  21   21  
Scheme for Subsidy on Exchange for PS Students  708   4,264  
Scheme for Subsidy on Exchange to "Belt and Roads" Regions for PS Students  100   4,276  
Self-Financing Post Secondary Scholarship Scheme  40   423  
QESS - Career Advisory Resources & Training Services Project  (43)   192  
QESS - Student Counselling Services and Personal Development Centre  7   285  
QESS - Project See U  212   -  
QESS - Accreditation Grant Scheme for Self-Financing Program  1,471   1,970  

Total  2,516   11,431  

 

Deferred government subvention mainly includes the unspent balance of the following eight schemes:  
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(a) Matching Grant for the Pilot Mainland Experience Scheme for Post-secondary Students   

The Matching Grant for the Pilot Mainland Experience Scheme for Post-secondary Students (the Scheme) was a 
five-year scheme launched by the Education Bureau of HKSAR in 2011-2012 to subsidise the post-secondary 
students participating in short-term internship or learning programmes in the Mainland on matching basis. 
UOWCHK has complied with the requirements of the Scheme and the details of Matching Grants, Matched 
Donations of the Scheme and their related expenditure are separately disclosed as follows: 

 
 Matching Grants Matched Donations 

 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 
Balance at the beginning on the financial year  21   21   21   21  

Expenditure     
Internship Programme  -   -   -   -  

Balance at the end of the financial year  21   21   21   21  

 

(b) Scheme for Subsidy on Exchange for Post-secondary Students   

The Scheme for Subsidy on Exchange for Post-secondary Students (SSE) was launched by the Education Bureau 
(EDB) of HKSAR in January 2015 to subsidise financially needy students studying full-time locally-accredited 
undergraduate (including top-up) and sub-degree programs to participate in outbound exchange programs. 
UOWCHK has complied with the requirements of the SSE and the details of the income and expenditure of SSE 
are separately disclosed as follows: 

 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  4,264   11,534  

Income   
Subsidy received  1,174   465  
Interest and investment income  -   4  

  5,438   12,003  

Expenditure   
Subsidy to students  (225)   (469)  
Returned to the Government  (4,505)   (7,270)  

Balance at the end of the financial year  708   4,264  
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(c) Scheme for Subsidy on Exchange to "Belt and Road" Regions for Post-secondary Students   

To capitalize on the new opportunities created by the "one belt one road" initiatives as well as strengthen and 
promote further educational exchanges between Hong Kong and the nearby countries along the "Belt and Road" 
(B&R), the EDB has launched the Scheme for Subsidy on Exchange to "Belt and Road" Regions for 
Post-secondary Students (SSEBR) to encourage and support local students in need to go on exchanges in the 
B&R regions in July 2016. UOWCHK has complied with the requirements of the SSEBR and the details of the 
income and expenditure of the SSEBR are separately disclosed as follows:  

 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  4,276   4,264  

Income   
Subsidy received  200   100  
Interest and investment income  -   4  

  4,476   4,368  

Expenditure   
Subsidy to students  -   (92)  
Returned to the Government  (4,376)   -  

Balance at the end of the financial year  100   4,276  

 

(d) Self-financing Post-Secondary Scholarship Scheme   

To promote the development of the Self-Financing post-secondary sector, the Self-Financing Post-Secondary 
Scholarship Scheme is set up under the Self-Financing Post-Secondary Education Fund to offer scholarships and 
awards to students pursuing full-time locally-accredited self-financing sub-degree or bachelor's degree (including 
top-up degree) programs at non-profit-making education institutions. UOWCHK has complied with the 
requirements of the Scheme and the details of the income and expenditure of the Scheme are separately disclosed 
below: 

 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  423   460  

Income   
Subsidy received  7,630   7,051  
Interest and investment income  -   2  

  8,053   7,513  

Expenditure   
Subsidy to students  (7,580)   (6,710)  
Returned to the Government  (433)   (380)  

Balance at the end of the financial year  40   423  
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(e) QESS - Career Advisory Resources & Training Services Project   

With the support of the Quality Enhancement Support Scheme under the Education Bureau, a two-year "Career 
Advisory Resources & Training Services Project" (Project CARATS) that aims to equip our students for eventually 
joining the workforce began in September 2016. It is designed to improve students' employability upon graduation 
by providing them with comprehensive career-related skills training and support. A series of career preparation 
training seminars, workshops, company visits and internship programs are organised for participating students to 
acquire practical knowledge and realistic understanding of the employment market, reflect on their interest in the 
relevant industry and enhance their personal attributes like self-confidence, communication and self-presentation 
skills. UOWCHK has complied with the requirements of the scheme and the related expenditure are disclosed as 
follows: 

 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  192   166  

Income   
Subsidy received  283   782  

  475   948  

Expenditure   
Subsidy to students  (518)   (756)  

Balance at the end of the financial year  (43)   192  

 

(f) QESS - Student Counselling Services and Personal Development Centre   

With the support of the Quality Enhancement Support Scheme under the Education Bureau, a two year project 
titled "Student Counselling Services and Personal Development Centre" began in September 2017. This project 
aims to enhance the provision and effectiveness of personal development, counselling services and mental health 
awareness education to students of UOWCHK. A wide range of activities and programmes in relation to personal 
development and mental health education for students with different academic and cultural backgrounds are 
organised. UOWCHK has complied with the requirements of the Scheme and the related expenditure are disclosed 
as follows: 
 
 

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year  285   -  

Income   
Subsidy received  474   504  

  759   504  

Expenditure   
Subsidy to students  (752)   (219)  

Balance at the end of the financial year  7   285  



UOW College Hong Kong 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018 

 

20  Deferred government subvention (continued)  

37 

(g) QESS - Project See U   

With the Support of the Quality Enhancement Support Scheme under the Education Bureau, a two year Project 
title "Student English Enhancement Unit (Project SEE U)" has begun in September 2018. This projects aims to 
strengthen students' English language at the foundation level. The pedagogical activities in SEE U Project have 
been designed to cater to the students' needs, aiming at improving their English linguistic competencies in reading, 
writing, speaking and listening. It is intended that this Project provides supplementary support to the College's 
mainstream curricula, assisting the College in its delivery of students with good academic quality.  UOWCHK has 
complied with the requirements of the Scheme and the related expenditure are disclosed as follows:  
   

  

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year   -   -  

Income    
Subsidy received   530   -  
   530   -  

Expenditure    
Subsidy to students   (318)   -  
Balance at the end of the financial year   212   -  

 

(h) QESS - Accreditation Grant for Self-financing Program   

The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region launched the Qualifications Framework (QF) to 
promote lifelong learning. A robust quality assurance mechanism is in place to benchmark and safeguard the 
quality of learning programs under the QF, mainly through accreditation by the Hong Kong Council for 
Accreditation of Academic and Vocational Qualifications (HKCAAVQ). After successful accreditation, the College 
can apply for the Accreditation Grant for Self-financing Programs which covers the fees charged by the HKCAAVQ 
for various types of accreditation services provided, including Initial Evaluation, Institutional Review, Learning 
Program Accreditation and Learning Program Re-accreditation. 

 
   

 

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

   
Balance at the beginning of the financial year  1,970   -  

Income   
Subsidy received  246   2,216  

  2,216   2,216  

Expenditure   
Subsidy to students  (745)   (246)  

Balance at the end of the financial year  1,471   1,970  
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21 Financial risk management  

The Company's principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, other 
financial assets and trade and other payables. 

The Company has exposure to the following risks from the use of the above financial instruments; credit risk, liquidity risk 
and market risk (which includes both interest rate risk and foreign currency risk). 

This note presents information about the Company's exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. 

The Board of Directors of UOWD Ltd has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management 
framework of UOWD Ltd and companies in which UOWD Ltd has controlling interest, including the Company. This Board 
has established the Audit & Risk Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring risk management policies 
of the Company. The Committee reports regularly to the Board of Directors of UOWD Ltd on its activities. 

Risk Management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company's activities. 

The Audit & Risk Committee overseas how management monitors compliance with the Company's risk management 
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by 
the Company. 

Risk exposures and responses 

(a) Credit risk   

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Company, which comprises cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables and other financial assets. The Company's exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counter 
party. The carrying amount of the Company's financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. Exposure at 
reporting date is addressed in each applicable note to the financial statements. 

UOWCHK deposits its cash with a reputable financial institution which is one of Hong Kong's largest listed financial 
institutions in terms of market capitalisation. 

The Company trades with students and other educational organisations and as such collateral is not requested nor is it 
the Company's policy to securitise its trade and other receivables. 

Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Company's history of bad debts is not 
significant. The Company's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. 
An impairment analysis is performed annually at each reporting date on an individual basis. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of customer was: 

 

 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 
Education  1,797   1,618  
Related Parties  320   313  

  2,117   1,931  
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(b) Liquidity risk   

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company's 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meets its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions. 

The Company regularly monitors rolling forecasts of liquidity reserves on the basis of expected cash inflows and cash 
outflows. 

The following liquidity risk disclosures reflect all contractually fixed payments resulting from recognised financial liabilities 
as at reporting date. The timing of cash flows for liabilities is based on the contractual terms of the underlying contract. 
Financial assets are considered and disclosed in the Company's overall liquidity risk. The Company ensures that 
sufficient liquid assets are available to meet all short term cash outflows. 

The risk implied from the values shown in the tables following reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows of 
financial assets and liabilities. 

 
 Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Total 

 

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

2018 
HK$'000 

2017 
HK$'000 

Financial Assets:       
Cash and cash equivalents  271,387   219,214   -   -   271,387   219,214  
Trade & other receivables  2,354   2,233   -   -   2,354   2,233  
Other financial assets  -   -   903,846   904,928   903,846   904,928  

  273,741   221,447   903,846   904,928   1,177,587   1,126,375  

Financial Liabilities:       
Trade and other payables  (29,232)   (29,991)   -   -   (29,232)   (29,991)  

Total contractual outflows  244,509   191,456   903,846   904,928   1,148,355   1,096,384  

The amounts presented in the above tables comprise the contractual undiscounted cash flows, and therefore will not 
always agree with the amounts presented in the statement of financial position. For estimated interest rate cash flows, 
interest rates applicable as at the reporting date have been used. 

(c) Market risk   

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, specifically foreign currency risk and interest rate risk will affect the 
Company's income or value of its holding of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

    (i) Foreign exchange risk 

The Company is exposed to currency risks on purchases that are denominated in currencies other than the functional 
currency. Whilst the volume of purchases denominated in foreign currencies is quite small, the primary currency in which 
these transactions are denominated in, is the Australian dollar (AUD). 

The Company, via CCCU Trust is exposed to currency risks on other financial assets held in managed funds, which are 
denominated in US dollars. The Trust does not currently use any hedging instruments when dealing with foreign currency. 
At the reporting date, the Trust had $839,238,000 (2017: $838,809,000) in managed funds denominated in US dollars. 
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A 5% change in USD:HKD exchange rate would result in a +- HK$41,962,000 (2017: HK$41,940,000) change in the fair 
value of the managed funds, which would be recorded in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

The Company does not currently use any hedging instruments when dealing with foreign currency. 

In respect of current financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Company ensures that its net 
exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary. 

At 31 December 2018, the Company had an exposure to AUD denominated trade and other payables of $6,518,000 
(2017: 6,281,000). 

    (ii) Interest rate risk 

The Company's exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to the Company's cash and cash equivalents and 
other financial assets. The Company's trade receivables are non-interest bearing. 

The Company does not currently use hedging instruments when dealing with interest rates. 

The Company has introduced a treasury policy which encourages excess cash reserves to be placed in short term fixed 
interest term deposits. At the reporting date $190,212,000 (2017: $130,000,000) is in short term deposits with interest 
rates of 1.85% - 2.05% (2017: 0.46% - 1.08%). 

At the reporting date, the only financial asset the Company has that it is exposed to Hong Kong variable interest rate risk 
is cash and cash equivalents. The value at the reporting date is $79,931,000 (2017: $88,969,000). 

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the reporting date. 

At the reporting date, a reasonably possible change of 20 basis points in interest rates would have increased (decreased) 
profit by the amounts shown below, with all other variables held constant. 

 
 
31 December 2018  Interest rate risk 

  +20bps -20bps 

 
Carrying 
amount 

Profit 
HK$'000 

Equity 
HK$'000 

Profit 
HK$'000 

Equity 
HK$'000 

Financial assets      
Cash and cash equivalents - at bank  79,931   160   160   (160)   (160)  
Total increase/(decrease)   160   160   (160)   (160)  
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31 December 2017  Interest rate risk 

  +10bps -10bps 

 
Carrying 
amount 

Profit 
HK$'000 

Equity 
HK$'000 

Profit 
HK$'000 

Equity 
HK$'000 

Financial assets      
Cash and cash equivalents - at bank  88,969   89   89   (89)   (89)  
Total increase/(decrease)   89   89   (89)   (89)  

 

22 Related parties  

(a) Members of the Board of Governors   

The names of each person holding a position on the Board of Governors of UOWCHK during the financial year ended 
31 December 2018 as disclosed in note 17. 

No Board of Governors member has entered into a contract with the Company since the end of the previous financial 
year and there are no contracts involving Board of Governors members' interests at year end. 

(b) Non-member related parties   

The classes of non-member related parties are: 

- Controlling entity of the Company - UOWD Ltd 

- Ultimate controlling entity of the Company - University of Wollongong 

- Entity controlled by the Company - CCCU Trust 

Transactions with related parties 

All transactions with non-member related parties are on normal terms and conditions. 

Trade debtors are settled on normal 30 days terms. All debtors are considered recoverable with no allowance for 
impairment being created. Loans to non-member related parties are non-interest bearing and repayable at call. 

The Company, in accordance with the Trust Deed, is entitled to the distribution of interest income earned by the CCCU 
Trust. The Company can also, subject to approval from the trustee, seek distribution of funds for activities that relate to 
the transition from its reliance on services and facilities of City University of Hong Kong. 

The Company engages its ultimate controlling entity to provide course materials and accreditation for courses developed 
by the entity. 
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Other related parties 

The Company enters into transactions with other entities controlled by UOWD Ltd, including UOWC Ltd. 

UOWC Ltd provides management and transitional services to UOWCHK. These services are passed through to the 
Company on commercial terms. 

The aggregate amounts included in the profit for the financial year that resulted from transactions with non-director related 
parties are: 

 
2018 

HK$'000 
2017 

HK$'000 
Sale of goods and services   

Interest income   
 - Entity controlled by the Company  1,288   714  

Total Income  1,288   714  

   
Purchase of goods and services   

Department fees   
 - Ultimate controlling entity of the Company  2,890   1,934  

Fees and charges for reimbursable services   
 - Ultimate controlling entity of the Company  97  - 
 - Entities owned by the controlling entity  1,066   1,048  

Management fees   
 - Entities owned by the controlling entity  10,928   4,596  

Facilities and services fee   
 - City University of Hong Kong  61,417   66,075  

  76,398   73,653  

 

The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties: 

 
 2018 2017 
 HK$'000 HK$'000 

Current receivables (sales of goods and services)   
 - Entity controlled by the Company  320   206  
 - Ultimate controlling entity of the Company -  107  

Current payables (purchases of goods and services)   

Trade Creditors   
 - Ultimate controlling entity of the Company  838   1,914  
 - Entities owned by the controlling entity  5,424   4,102  
 - City University of Hong Kong  17,469   18,441  
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23 Events after the reporting period  

There has not been any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the financial year that has significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect operations of the Company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of 
the Company, in future financial years. 

24 Contingent assets and liabilities  

There were no contingent assets or liabilities at 31 December 2018 (2017: nil). 

 

End of audited financial statements 





 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
CCCU Trust 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion  
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of CCCU Trust (the Trust), which comprise the 
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018, 
the Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the Statement of cash flows and the 
Statement of changes in equity and the for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.  

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Trust as at 31 December 2018, and of its 
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards 

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report.  

I am independent of the Trust in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor–General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an Auditor–
General 

• mandating the Auditor–General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor–General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

Other Information 
Other information comprises the information included in the Trust’s annual report for the year ended 
31 December 2018, other than the financial statements and my Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. 
The Trustees of the Trust are responsible for the other information. 



 

 

At the date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other information I have received comprises the 
Certificate under the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements  
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act, and for such internal control as 
the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Trust’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting except where the Trust will be dissolved by an Act of Parliament or 
otherwise cease operations. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.  
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take based 
on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.  
The description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Trust carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

Dominika Ryan 
Director, Financial Audit Services 

29 March 2019 
SYDNEY 
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continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting except where the Trust will be dissolved by an Act of Parliament or 
otherwise cease operations. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.  
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take based 
on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.  
The description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Trust carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

Dominika Ryan 
Director, Financial Audit Services 

29 March 2019 
SYDNEY 
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DIRECTOR’S DECLARATION

In the opinion of the Directors’ of UOW Pulse Ltd (“the Company”):

1. The financial statements and notes, are in accordance with the provisions of the Public 
Finance and Audit Act 1983 and the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(a) Giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at
31 December 2018 and of their performance, as represented by the results of its
operations and their cash flows, for the year ended on that date; and

(b) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations
Regulations 2001;

 and 

2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts
as and when they become due and payable.

We are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars included in the 
financial reports to be misleading or inaccurate. 

Dated at Wollongong, 16 April 2019. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

SIGNATURES: 

Sue Chapman Alf Maccioni 
Chair of the UOW Pulse Ltd Board Chief Executive Officer 



To the Directors 
UOW Pulse Ltd 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

As auditor for the audit of the financial report of UOW Pulse Ltd for the year ended 
31 December 2018, I declare, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 

• the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit
• any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Dominika Ryan 
Director, Financial Audit Services 

11 April 2019 
SYDNEY 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
UOW Pulse Ltd 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament and Members of UOW Pulse Ltd

Opinion
I have audited the accompanying financial report of UOW Pulse Ltd (the Company), which comprises,
the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2018, the Statement of 
Financial Position as at 31 December 2018, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration.

In my opinion, the financial report:

• is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
- giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2018

and its performance for the year ended on that date
- complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001

• is in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and the 
Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report.

Basis for Opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report’ section 
of my report.

I am independent of the Company in accordance with the requirements of the:

• Australian Auditing Standards
• Corporations Act 2001
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110).

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110.

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by:

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services.

I confirm the independence declaration, required by the Corporations Act 2001, provided to the 
directors of the Company on 11 April 2019, would be in the same terms if provided to the directors as 
at the time of this Independent Auditor’s Report.



I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Other Information

Other information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report for the year 
ended 31 December 2018, other than the financial report and my Independent Auditor’s Report 
thereon. The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. At the date of this 
Independent Auditor’s Report, the other information I have received comprise the Director’s Report
and the draft Annual Report endorsed by the Company’s Board of Directors.

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion on the other information.

In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact.

I have nothing to report in this regard.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the PF&A Act, Corporations Act 2001, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
My objectives are to:

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial report.

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
UOW Pulse Ltd 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament and Members of UOW Pulse Ltd

Opinion
I have audited the accompanying financial report of UOW Pulse Ltd (the Company), which comprises,
the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 December 2018, the Statement of 
Financial Position as at 31 December 2018, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration.

In my opinion, the financial report:

• is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
- giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2018

and its performance for the year ended on that date
- complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001

• is in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and the 
Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report.

Basis for Opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report’ section 
of my report.

I am independent of the Company in accordance with the requirements of the:

• Australian Auditing Standards
• Corporations Act 2001
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110).

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110.

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by:

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services.

I confirm the independence declaration, required by the Corporations Act 2001, provided to the 
directors of the Company on 11 April 2019, would be in the same terms if provided to the directors as 
at the time of this Independent Auditor’s Report.



My opinion does not provide assurance:

• that the Company carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial report on 

any website where it may be presented
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial report.

Dominika Ryan
Director, Financial Audit Services

16 April 2019
SYDNEY



Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

Note

2018

$

2017

$

Revenue from continuing operations 3 26,936,325 29,156,399

Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets 4 (28,292) (259,154)

Raw materials and consumables used (6,005,832) (6,584,989)

Employee related expenses 5(a) (13,915,855) (14,322,889)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 5(b) (1,378,889) (1,438,681)

Other expenses 5(c) (6,061,089) (3,938,729)

Finance costs (18,356) (24,471)

Operating Result before income tax (471,988) 2,587,486

Income tax expense 1(d) - -

Operating Result for the year (471,988) 2,587,486

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -

Total comprehensive income for the year (471,988) 2,587,486

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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My opinion does not provide assurance:

• that the Company carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial report on 

any website where it may be presented
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial report.

Dominika Ryan
Director, Financial Audit Services

16 April 2019
SYDNEY



Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2018

Note

2018

$

2017

$

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 2,800,288 4,356,586

Trade and other receivables 7 6,206,125 1,609,746

Inventories 8 1,277,312 1,886,729

Other non-financial assets 9 191,813 392,991

Total current assets 10,475,538 8,246,052

Non current assets

Property, plant and equipment 10 8,769,149 2,554,055

Intangible assets 11 45,511 7,295,893

Total non current assets 8,814,660 9,849,948

Total assets 19,290,198 18,096,000

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 7,342,662 5,780,640

Borrowings 13 166,838 159,475

Provisions 14 1,441,778 1,354,427

Other Current Liabilities 15 309,305 223,981

Total current liabilities 9,260,583 7,518,523

Non current liabilities

Borrowings 13 151,542 318,380

Provisions 14 287,295 196,331

Total non current liabilities 438,837 514,711

Total liabilities 9,699,420 8,033,234

Net assets 9,590,778 10,062,766

EQUITY

Retained earnings 16 9,590,778 10,062,766

Total equity 9,590,778 10,062,766

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

2018

Note

Retained
Earnings

$

Balance at 1 January 2018 16 10,062,766

Total comprehensive income for the year 16 (471,988)

Balance at 31 December 2018 9,590,778

2017

Note

Retained
Earnings

$

Balance at 1 January 2017 16 8,654,174

Acquisition 1 January 2017 16 (1,178,894)

Total comprehensive income for the year 16 2,587,486

Balance at 31 December 2017 10,062,766

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

Note

2018

$

2017

$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Receipts from customers 23,781,052 29,949,505

Payments to suppliers and employees (24,850,103) (27,505,880)

Interest received 62,476 79,668

Interest paid (18,356) (24,471)

Net cash flows from operating activities 24 (1,024,931) 2,498,822

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (371,892) (705,436)

Purchases of intangibles - (12,991)

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets - 249,823

Net cash used in investing activities (371,892) (468,604)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from borrowings - 41,949

Repayment of borrowings (159,475) (156,031)

Net cash used in financing activities (159,475) (114,082)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held (1,556,298) 1,916,136

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,356,586 2,140,414

Acquisition - Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year - 300,036

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 2,800,288 4,356,586

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
      

 UOW Pulse Limited (the "Company") is a company limited by guarantee incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  If
the Company is wound up, each 'member' is liable to contribute a maximum of $1.00 towards the costs, charges and
expenses of winding up the Company and payment of debts and liabilities of the Company.  The address of the
Company's registered office is Northfields Avenue, North Wollongong NSW 2500.

The ultimate parent of the entity is the University of Wollongong Consolidated Entity.

The financial statement covers UOW Pulse Limited for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Company are providing services primarily to students
including childcare, entertainment, student engagement activities, retail and food, sporting, leisure, recreation and
health and fitness.

(a) Basis of preparation

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards (which includes Australian Accounting Interpretations) and other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and the
Corporations Act 2001.

These statements were authorised for issue on the 16th of April, 2019.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars.

Compliance with Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission
The financial statement have been prepared in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commissions Act 2012.

Compliance with IFRS
The financial statements of the Company do not comply with IFRS because the Company has adopted the not for
profit requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards which are inconsistent with IFRS requirements.

Historical cost convention                                                                                                                                             
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except that the liability for long
service leave is adjusted to net present value.

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Company's accounting policies.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(b) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Amounts disclosed as revenue are
net of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

The Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the Company and specific criteria have been met for each of the Company’s activities as
described below. The Company bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of
customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

(i) Sale of goods and rendering of services
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised as revenue when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred to the buyer, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably and it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company. Revenue is recognised when the service is provided
or by reference to the stage of completion.

(ii) Lease income                                                                                                                                                        
Lease income from operating leases is recognised as income on a straight line basis over the lease term.

(iii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as it accrues.

(iv) Dividends
Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established.

(v) Grants and contributions 
Grants and contributions are generally recognised as revenues when the company obtains control over the assets
comprising the contributions. Control over contributions is normally obtained upon the receipt of cash.

(c) Interest costs

Interest costs comprise interest payable on borrowings, which is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
as it accrues.

(d) Income tax

The operations of the Company are exempt from income tax under Section 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act
(1997).

The operations of the Company are exempt from payroll tax under Sections 48(2) of the Payroll Tax Act 2007. NSW
Revenue have advised that they will be conducting a payroll tax review in 2019 for the University of Wollongong
Consolidated Entity, including the Company.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(e) Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Company, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance leases (note 10).  Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. 

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term
if there is no reasonable certainty that the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Company as
lessee are classified as operating leases (note 19).  Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the
period of the lease.

Lease liabilities are reduced by repayments of principal.  The interest components of the lease payments are
expensed.  Contingent rentals are expensed as incurred.

(f) Impairment of assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.  Other
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and on hand and short term
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are included within interest bearing loans and
borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

(h) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised at the original invoice amount as this is not materially different to
amortised cost, given the short term nature of these receivables. Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Debts which are expected to be uncollectible are written off.

The Company applies a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables and records the loss
allowance at the amount equal to the expected lifetime credit loss. The Company has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

The amount of the provision is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Debt forgiveness is recognised
as the amount receivable as at the time the debt is forgiven.

(i) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned to inventory on hand by the
method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a weighted average
cost basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less all
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
estimated selling costs.

(j) Investments and other financial assets

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument, and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by transactions costs, except for
those carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured initially at fair value. Subsequent measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities are described below. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or
when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when
it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets 

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the
transaction price, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs.  

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and effective as hedging
instruments are classified into the following categories upon initial recognition:

 • amortised cost
 • fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 
 • equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance
costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within
other expenses. 

Classifications are determined by both:

     • The entities business model for managing the financial asset 

     • The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets  

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance
costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables, which is presented within
other expenses.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than ‘hold to collect’ or ‘hold to collect and sell’
are categorised at fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVPL. 

Impairment of Financial assets  

AASB 9’s impairment requirements use more forward looking information to recognise expected credit losses - the
‘expected credit losses (ECL) model’. Instruments within the scope of the new requirements included loans and other
debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, trade receivables and loan commitments and some
financial guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Company considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit
losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected
collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument. 

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

As the accounting for financial liabilities remains largely unchanged from AASB 139, the Company’s financial liabilities
were not impacted by the adoption of AASB 9. However, for completeness, the accounting policy is disclosed below.

The Company’s financial liabilities include borrowings and trade and other payables. Financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the Company designated a
financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. 

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for
derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss (other than derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as
hedging instruments).

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or loss
are included within finance costs or finance income.

(k) Property, plant and equipment

(i) Owned Assets
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably.  The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.  All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they are
incurred.

Generally property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with a greater value than $5,000 are capitalised except
for computer equipment which is normally capitalised irrespective of the $5,000 threshold where it is considered to be
part of a network of assets. Other property, plant and equipment items will be capitalised if they are individually less
than $5,000 in value only if they collectively with other items exceed $5,000 combined and form one asset item.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the specific assets as follows:

                     2018                                 2017

Building improvements 5 -10 years                       5 -10 years
Plant and equipment 3 -10 years                       3 -10 years
Computer equipment 3 - 5 years                        3 - 5 years
Motor vehicles              5 -10 years               5 -10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.  These are included in
the statement of comprehensive income.  An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no further future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(l) Intangible assets

(i)  Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Company's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities.  Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired. 

Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently reversed. 

(ii)  Computer Software
Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will
contribute to future period financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to
software and systems. Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over periods generally ranging from 3 to 5
years.
(iii) Occupancy Contribution and Leasehold Improvements
The University as the parent entity holds legal title over all land and buildings the University and its subsidiaries
(including the company) occupy. Over time UOW Pulse made improvements to buildings the Company occupied
belonging to the Parent entity.  Historically the company  recognised this expenditure as a “contribution to occupancy”
effectively a right to use  intangible asset and amortised the expense annually.

From 1 January 2018, following a review of the services and lease arrangements between the Company and the
Parent, the Company pays rent to the Parent entity for use of its building. The Company has full ownership and control
of these improvements, whilst the Parent retains ownership of the base assets. On this basis ,the transactions are in
the nature of Leasehold Improvements and have been recognised by the Company and the Parent entity as Leasehold
Improvements from 1 January 2018.

The impact of this change for the Company:

-  Reclassification of the Occupancy Contribution to Leasehold Improvements from 1 January 2018.

The impact of this change for the Parent entity:

-  Derecognition of the improvements made by the Company which were previously reported in the Parent's
   Property, Plant and Equipment from 1 January 2018;

-  Derecognition of the Contribution to Occupancy liability from 1 January 2018;

-  Ownership of the Leasehold Improvements are with the Company.

The change in classification and recognition has nil impact on Net Assets and Liabilities for the Company, the UOW
Parent Entity and the Consolidated Entity.

               2018                                                 2017  

 Occupancy Contribution                                        0                                   30 - 40 Years 
 Leasehold Improvements  30 - 40 Years                          0

(m) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated at cost, which is considered to approximate amortised cost due to their short term
nature and are recognised when the Company becomes obliged to make future payments resulting from the purchase
of goods and services.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(n) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities, which are not an incremental cost relating to the
actual draw down of the facility, are recognised as prepayments and amortised on a straight line basis over the term of
the facility.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in other income or other expenses.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date and does not expect to settle the liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting date.

(o) Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when the Company has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.  Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the reporting date.  The pre tax discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The increase in the provision
resulting from the passage of time is recognised in finance costs.

(p) Employee benefits

(i) Short term obligations
Liabilities for wages and salaries (including non monetary benefits) and annual leave that are due to be settled within
12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are recognised and measured in
respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date at undiscounted amounts based on the amounts expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled. Regardless of the expected timing of settlements, provisions made in respect of
employee benefits are classified as a current liability, unless there is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, in which case it would be classified as a non current liability.

Long term annual leave that is not expected to be taken within twelve months is measured at present value in
accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits.

Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in
the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

(ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present
value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

The provision is calculated using estimated future increases in wage and salary rates including related on costs and
expected settlement dates based on turnover history and is discounted using the rates attached to national
government securities at reporting date which most closely match the terms of maturity of the related liabilities.  Leave
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
is charged to the provision at the time leave is taken. The provision for long service leave for the year ended 31
December 2018 was assessed by management in accordance with guidelines recommended by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. The assumptions used to calculate the long service leave provision include:

- Salary inflation rate per annum 3% (2017: 3%)
- Discount rate 1.99% (2017: 2.34%)
- Proportion of leave taken in service 18% (2017: 18%)

(iii) Superannuation entitlements
Contributions to employee superannuation funds are charged against income as incurred. The Company is under no
legal obligation to make up any shortfall in the funds' assets to meet payments due to employees.

(q) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority.  In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable.  The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of
financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

(r) New accounting standards and interpretations

AASB 9 Financial Instruments became effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, replacing AASB 139
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. It makes major changes to the previous guidance on the
classification and measurement of financial assets and introduces an ‘expected credit loss’ model for impairment of
financial assets. Refer Note 1h) and 1J)

When adopting AASB 9, the Company has applied transitional relief and opted not to restate prior periods.  Any
differences arising from the adoption of AASB 9 in relation to classification, measurement, and impairment would be
recognised in opening retained earnings as at 1 January 2018.  

The Carrying amounts and Amortised cost measurement basis for Cash and Cash Equivalents, Trade Receivables,
Other financial Assets, Trade payables and Borrowings have not changed upon adoption of AASB 9.

Allowance for impairment in 2018 was calculated under the expected credit loss model in the 2018 reporting period
and recalculated for the 2017 reporting period. Refer Note 1h), 2 and 7.  No changes to opening retained earnings as
at 1 January 2018 for impairment was required.

The following standards have been issued but are not mandatory for the 31 December 2018 reporting period. UOW
Pulse has elected not to early adopt any of these standards. The assessment and impact of these new standards and
interpretations are set out below:

Standard Application Date Implications
AASB15 Revenue from Contracts 1 January 2019 No material impact
AASB16 Leases 1 January 2019 No material impact
AASB1058 Income for Not-for-Profits 1 January 2019 No material impact
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1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The Company's assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is that they will not materially
affect any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements or significantly impact the disclosures in the financial
statement or significantly impact the disclosures in relation to the Company.

2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Company's principal financial instruments comprise cash, investments, receivables, payables and borrowings.

The Company manages its exposure to the following financial risks, including credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk
relating to interest rate and equity risk in accordance with the Company's financial risk management policy. The
objective of the policy is to support the delivery of the Company's financial targets whilst protecting future financial
security. 

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework.  The
Board has established the Audit Risk Management and Compliance Committee, which is responsible for developing
and monitoring risk management policies.  The Committee reports to the Board on its activities.  

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that indebted counter parties will default on their contractual obligations, resulting in
financial loss to the Company. Credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.  The majority of the Company's
business is conducted by cash or EFTPOS, and consequently the level of credit risk is low.  In addition, the
majority of trade and other debtors are with related entities.  The Company does not require collateral in respect
of financial assets. Trade and other receivables that are neither past due or impaired are considered to be of
high credit quality. Aggregates of such amounts are as detailed in Note 7.

Investments are allowed only in liquid securities.  All funds invested are invested with the National Australia
Bank.

The weighted average interest rate on interest earned by the Company is 1.25% (2017: 1.25%).

At reporting date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.  The maximum exposure to credit risk
by class of recognised financial assets is equivalent to the carrying value and classification of those financial
assets (net of any provisions) as presented in the statement of financial position. Details with respect to credit
risk of trade and other receivables are provided in Note 7.  

(b) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market
positions.  The Company manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and
matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

Maturities of financial liabilities
The tables below analyse the Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their
contractual maturities for all non derivative financial liabilities.

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.  Balances due within 12
months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.  For interest rate swaps the
cash flows have been estimated using forward interest rates applicable at the end of each reporting period. 
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2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

31 December 2018
Average
Interest

Rate

%

Variable
Interest

Rate

$

Fixed
Interest

Rate

$

Non
Interest 

$

Less than
1 Year  

$

1 to 5
Years 

$

5+
Years 

$

Total

$

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1.25 2,800,288 - - 2,800,288 - - 2,800,288

Receivables - - - 6,206,125 6,206,125 - - 6,206,125

Other financial assets 2.75 - 120,000 - 120,000 - - 120,000

Total Financial assets - 2,800,288 120,000 6,206,125 9,126,413 - - 9,126,413

Financial liabilities

Payables - - - 6,829,158 6,829,158 - - 6,829,158

Borrowings- NAB 4.49 - 292,048 - 156,324 135,724 - 292,048

Borrowings- NAB 4.97 - 26,332 - 10,515 15,817 - 26,332

Total financial liabilities - - 318,380 6,829,158 6,995,997 151,541 - 7,147,538

         31 December 2017
Average
Interest

Rate

%

Variable
Interest

Rate

$

Fixed
Interest

Rate

$

Non
Interest 

$

Less than
1 Year  

$

1 to 5
Years  

$

5+
Years 

$

Total 

$

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1.25 4,356,586 - - 4,356,586 - - 4,356,586

Receivables - - - 1,609,746 1,609,746 - - 1,609,746

Other financial assets 2.60 - 120,000 - 120,000 - - 120,000

Total Financial assets - 4,356,586 120,000 1,609,746 6,086,332 - - 6,086,332

Financial liabilities

Payables - - - 5,611,786 5,611,786 - - 5,611,786

Borrowings- NAB 4.49 - 441,518 - 149,470 292,048 - 441,518

Borrowings- NAB 4.97 - 36,338 - 10,006 26,332 - 36,338

Total Financial libilities - - 477,856 5,611,786 5,771,262 318,380 - 6,089,642

(c) Market risk

(i) Foreign currency risk
The Company's only exposure to foreign currency risk is in relation to purchases of UniShop stock from
overseas.  These purchases are normally each less than $1,000 and in total are not material to the operations
of UniShop as an individual business unit or to the Company.  Sale price of these goods is set after the goods
are paid for, thus the Australian Dollar amount is known, effectively passing on any foreign exchange cost or
benefit to the customer.

(ii) Price risk
The Company and the parent entity maybe exposed to equity securities price risk.  This arises from investments
that may be held by the Company and classified on the statement of financial position as fair value through
profit or loss.   At reporting date, the value of the securities was nil (2017: $nil).  The Company is not exposed to
commodity price risk.

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, investments held by the Company are
diversified.
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2 Financial risk management objectives and policies

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Interest Rate Risk is limited to interest on the balance of the National Australia Bank accounts, shown as cash
and cash equivalents in Note 6.  The forecast at the end of 2018 is an increase or decrease of 1% based on the
current Reserve Bank of Australia cash rate of 1.25%. The Company's trade and other receivables are non
interest bearing and all related party loans and receivables are interest free.  Interest rates on Commercial Hire
Purchase finance are fixed at the time of drawdown of each individual loan within the umbrella facility.  The
Company's trade and other payables are non interest bearing.

(iv) Summarised sensitivity analysis
The following table summarises the sensitivity of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities to
interest rate risk and price risk.

31 December 2018 Interest rate risk Price risk

-1% +1% -1.304% +1.304%

Carrying
amount

$

Profit

$

Equity

$

Profit

$

Equity

$

Profit

$

Equity

$

Profit

$

Equity

$

Financial assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,800,288 (28,003) (28,003) 28,003 28,003 - - - -

Accounts receivable 6,206,125 - - - - - - - -

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 6,829,158 - - - - - - - -

Current borrowings 166,838 - - - - - - - -

Non-current borrowings 151,542 - - - - - - - -

Other financial liabilities 13,823 - - - - - - - -

Total increase/(decrease) (28,003) (28,003) 28,003 28,003 - - - -

31 December 2017 Interest rate risk Price risk

-1% +1% -1.304% +1.304%

Carrying
amount

$

Profit

$

Equity

$

Profit

$

Equity

$

Profit

$

Equity

$

Profit

$

Equity

$

Financial assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Deposits
at call 4,356,586 (43,566) (43,566) 43,566 43,566 - - - -

Accounts receivable 1,609,746 - - - - - - - -

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 5,611,786 - - - - - - - -

Current borrowings 159,475 - - - - - - - -

Non-current borrowings 318,380 - - - - - - - -

Other financial liabilities 14,243 - - - - - - - -

Total increase/(decrease) (43,566) (43,566) 43,566 43,566 - - - -
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3 Revenue

From continuing operations

2018

$

2017

$

Sales revenue

- Sale of goods 11,662,867 12,718,335

- Provision of services 10,745,835 10,048,043

22,408,702 22,766,378

Other revenue

- Interest 62,476 79,668

- URAC debt forgiven - 4,236,603

- Rental income 1,473,015 1,638,927

- Kids Uni Grant from UOW 185,000 185,000

- Other income 7,982 249,823

- UOW Contribution 2,799,150 -

4,527,623 6,390,021

26,936,325 29,156,399

4    Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets

2018

$

2017

$

Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets (28,292) (259,154)

(28,292) (259,154)

5 Expenses

(a) Employee benefits expense

2018

$

2017

$

Wages and salaries 11,532,494 12,192,478

Annual leave expense 750,979 670,746

Long service leave expense 256,657 181,352

Superannuation expense 1,139,346 1,011,383

Workers compensation expense 151,478 166,872

Other employee benefits 84,901 100,058

13,915,855 14,322,889
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5 Expenses

Superannuation

The Company makes contributions to various third party defined contribution superannuation funds.  Contributions are
included in the income statement as employee benefit expense, as outlined in Note 5a.  The Company does not
contribute to, or have any connection with, any defined benefit superannuation funds.

(b) Depreciation and Amortisation

2018

$

2017

$

Depreciation

Building improvements 268,166 362,539

Depreciation - motor vehicles 4,183 4,183

Leased plant & equipment 161,235 158,118

Plant and equipment 300,880 307,821

Computer equipment 48,273 55,833

Leasehold Improvements * 531,893 -

Total Depreciation 1,314,630 888,494

Amortisation

    Occupancy Contribution * - 531,893

    Establishment costs 48,839 2,742

    Computer software 15,420 15,552

Total amortisation 64,259 550,187

Total depreciation and
amortisation 1,378,889 1,438,681

* Reference to Note 1(I) (iii)

(c) Other Expenses

2018

$

2017

$

Consultant fees 168,862 246,107

Maintenance 417,222 554,356

Advertising & Promotional 145,880 120,893

Computer rental 95,228 75,454

Auditor's remuneration - audit of financial statements 78,650 73,100

Security 88,543 94,359

Activity Expenses 185,970 118,894
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5 Expenses

(c) Other Expenses

2018

$

2017

$

Cleaning 98,347 123,870

Kids Uni Catering 117,842 109,872

Bank charges 118,561 133,378

Laundry 53,179 71,346

Nappy Services 30,847 36,950

Waste disposal 154,031 161,372

Leasing cost 7,156 40,051

Small Equipment 59,531 46,233

Legal expenses 41,044 39,227

Materials and Consumables 96,920 92,546

Evening Entertainment 17,967 84,968

Lunch Entertainment 231,620 89,345

Electricity Expenses 166,740 184,206

Gas Charges 143,778 151,861

UOW Rent 1,999,150 -

Other 1,544,021 1,290,341

6,061,089 3,938,729

6 Current assets - Cash and cash equivalents

2018

$

2017

$

Cash at bank and on hand 2,800,288 4,356,586

7 Current assets - Trade and other receivables
2018

$

2017

$

Trade receivables 6,209,518 1,611,111

Provision for impairment (a) (3,393) (1,365)

Sub - Total 6,206,125 1,609,746

Total current trade and other
receivables 6,206,125 1,609,746
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7 Current assets - Trade and other receivables
(a) Impaired trade receivables

As at 31 December 2018 current trade receivables of the Company with a nominal value of $2,305,019 (2017:
$971,213) were past due.  Of this past due amount, $3,393 (2017: $1,365) was considered impaired and
provided for. The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to Childrens Service, Events and Unishop
customers, who are in unexpectedly difficult economic situations.

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

2018

$

2017

$

At 1 January (1,365) (5,737)

Provision for impairment
recognised during the year (2,028) (128)

Receivables written off during the
year as uncollectible - 4,500

At 31 December (3,393) (1,365)

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in 'other expenses' in the statement of
comprehensive income.  Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation
of recovering additional cash.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due.  Based on the
credit history of these other classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received when due. 

Information about the Company’s exposure to credit risk, foreign currency and interest rate risk is provided in Note 2.

Trade receivables

Days Past due

30-90 days 91-180 days >180 days Total

2018

Expected credit loss rate - - %0.28 %0.15

Estimated total gross carrying amount at
default 494,961 581,813 1,224,852 2,301,626

Expected credit loss - - 3,393 3,393

2017

Expected credit loss rate - - %0.50 %0.14

Estimated total gross carrying amount at
default 499,881 194,215 275,752 969,848

Expected credit loss - - 1,365 1,365
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As of 31 December 2018, trade receivables of $2,301,626 (2017: $969,848) were past due but not impaired.  These relate
to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default.  The ageing analysis of these trade
receivables is as follows:

2018

$

2017

$

1 to 3 months 494,961 499,881

3 to 6 months 581,813 194,215

Over 6 months 1,224,852 275,752

At 31 December 2,301,626 969,848

8 Current assets - Inventories
2018

$

2017

$

Inventories - at cost 1,277,312 1,886,729

1,277,312 1,886,729

Write downs of inventories to net realisable value recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 December 2018
amounted to $52,986  (2017: $79,017). The expense has been included in ‘raw materials and consumables used’ in
profit or loss.

9 Current Assets- Other non-financial assets
2018

$

2017

$

Bank Guarantee 120,000 120,000

Lease Incentive - 5,556

Prepayments 71,813 267,435

191,813 392,991

10 Non current assets - Property, plant and equipment
2018

$

2017

$

Building improvements

Cost 3,905,173 3,980,939

Accumulated depreciation (3,004,448) (3,049,510)

Total building improvements 900,725 931,429

Leased plant and equipment

Cost 834,030 922,024

Accumulated depreciation (546,368) (473,128)

Total plant and equipment 287,662 448,896
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10 Non current assets - Property, plant and equipment
2018

$

2017

$

Plant and equipment

Cost 3,333,892 3,372,462

Accumulated depreciation (2,486,822) (2,261,644)

Total plant and equipment 847,070 1,110,818

Motor vehicles

Cost 63,495 63,495

Accumulated depreciation (62,101) (57,918)

Total motor vehicles 1,394 5,577

Computer equipment

Cost 204,596 250,584

Accumulated depreciation (123,554) (193,249)

Total computer equipment 81,042 57,335

Leasehold Improvements

Cost 17,290,265 -

Accumulated depreciation (10,639,009) -

Total improvements 6,651,256 -

Total property, plant and
equipment 8,769,149 2,554,055

(a) Movements in Carrying Amounts

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and
the end of the current financial year:

Building
improvements

$

Leased Plant &
Equipment  

$

Plant and
equipment

$

Motor vehicles

$

Computer
equipment

$

Leasehold
Improvements

$

Total

$

Year ended at 31 December 2018

Balance at the beginning of year 931,429 448,896 1,110,818 5,577 57,335 - 2,554,055

Addition 237,462 - 53,552 - 80,878 - 371,892

Reclassification from Intangibles - - - - - 7,183,149 7,183,149

Disposals - written down value - - (16,420) - (8,898) - (25,318)

Depreciation expense (268,166) (161,235) (300,880) (4,183) (48,273) (531,893) (1,314,630)

Year ended at 31 December 2018 900,725 287,662 847,070 1,394 81,042 6,651,256 8,769,149
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10 Non current assets - Property, plant and equipment

(a) Movements in Carrying Amounts
Building

improvements

$

Leased Plant &
Equipment  

$

Plant and
equipment

$

Motor vehicles

$

Computer
equipment

$

Leasehold
Improvements

$

Total

$

Year ended at 31 December 2017

Balance at the beginning of year 1,049,174 - 817,440 - 72,281 - 1,938,895

Acquisition 52,675 568,878 303,180 46,631 43,788 - 1,015,152

Addition 314,392 38,136 352,906 - - - 705,434

Disposals - written down value (122,273) - (54,887) (36,871) (2,901) - (216,932)

Depreciation expense (362,539) (158,118) (307,821) (4,183) (55,833) - (888,494)

Year ended at 31 December 2017 931,429 448,896 1,110,818 5,577 57,335 - 2,554,055

11 Non current assets - Intangible Assets
2018

$

2017

$

Computer software

Cost 68,451 175,419

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (39,272) (127,847)

Net carrying value 29,179 47,572

Goodwill

Cost 216,792 180,192

Accumulated impairment (200,460) (115,020)

Net carrying value 16,332 65,172

Occupancy Contribution

Cost - 17,290,265

Accumulated amortisation and impairment - (10,107,116)

Net carrying value - 7,183,149

Total Intangibles 45,511 7,295,893
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11 Non current assets - Intangible Assets

(a) Movements in Carrying Amounts

Computer
software

$

Goodwill

$

Occupancy
Contribution

$

Total

$

Year ended 31 December 2018

Net carrying amount at start of year 47,572 65,172 7,183,149 7,295,893

Reclassification to Leasehold
Improvements - - (7,183,149) (7,183,149)

Disposals (2,974) - - (2,974)

Amortisation (15,420) - - (15,420)

Impairment - (48,839) - (48,839)

Closing value at 31 December 2018 29,179 16,332 - 45,511

Year ended 31 December 2017

Net carrying amount at start of year 50,891 109,378 4,897,281 5,057,550

Acquisition - - 2,817,761 2,817,761

Additions 12,991 - - 12,991

Disposals (758) (41,464) - (42,222)

Amortisation (15,552) (2,742) (531,893) (550,187)

Closing value at 31 December 2017 47,572 65,172 7,183,149 7,295,893

12 Current liabilities - Trade and other payables
2018

$

2017

$

Sundry creditors 37,285 72,907

GST payable 513,504 168,854

Accrued expenses 6,791,873 5,538,879

Total Trade and other payables 7,342,662 5,780,640

Information about the Company’s exposure to foreign exchange risk is provided in Note 2.

13 Borrowings

(a) Current liabilities

2018

$

2017

$

Secured

Financial lease Liability 166,838 159,475

Total current borrowings 166,838 159,475
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Information about the Company’s exposure to foreign exchange risk is provided in Note 2.

(b) Non-current liabilities

2018

$

2017

$

Secured

Financial lease Liability 151,542 318,380

Total non-current borrowings 151,542 318,380

Total borrowings 318,380 477,855

14 Provisions

(a) Current liabilities 

2018

$

2017

$

Employee benefits - long service leave 834,232 803,888

Employee benefits - annual leave 607,546 550,539

Total current provisions 1,441,778 1,354,427

(b) Non current liabilities 

2018

$

2017

$

Employee benefits -  long service leave 287,295 196,331

Total Non current provisions 287,295 196,331

The current provision for long service leave and annual leave includes all unconditional entitlements where employees
have completed the required period of service. The entire amount is presented as current.  Based on past experience,
the Company does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued current long service leave and annual
leave or require payment within the next 12 months. The following amounts reflect leave that is not expected to be
taken or paid within the next 12 months.

2018

$

2017

$

Long service leave obligation expected to be settled after 12 months 697,580 767,531

Annual leave obligation expected to be settled after 12 months 101,616 83,292

Expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

Movements in provisions for annual leave and long service leave are included in the profit or loss as employee benefits
expense, as outlined in Note 5a.
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15 Other Current liabilities
2018

$

2017

$

Deposits held 13,823 14,243

Income in advance 295,482 209,738

309,305 223,981

16 Retained Earnings
2018

$

2017

$

Balance 1 January 10,062,766 8,654,174

Acquisition 1 January 2017 - (1,178,894)

Operating Result for the year (471,988) 2,587,486

Retained earnings at 31 December 9,590,778 10,062,766

17 Key Management Personnel Disclosures

(a) Directors

The following persons were directors of  UOW Pulse Limited during the financial year:

(i) Chair
                                                                                                            
Sue Chapman 

(ii) Executive Director

Bailey Bond (Commenced: 23/10/2018)
Jo Fisher (Commenced: 23/10/2018)
Melva Crouch 
Sarah Lisle (Concluded: 21/08/2018)

(iii)     Non executive Directors
                                                                                                          
Anita Mulrooney 
Daniel Crameri (Concluded: 21/08/2018
James Pearson (Commenced: 16/06/2018)
Kath McCollim
Mary Youssif (Concluded: 17/04/2018)
Murray Reid (Concluded: 06/03/2018)
Paul Ell (Commenced: 06/03/2018)  
Shiva Gopalan (Commenced: 21/08/2018)

Aside from the remuneration for services rendered as an employee of the Company  disclosed in Note 17(b) no
Director has entered into any other material contract with the Company since the end of the previous financial
year.

The totals of remuneration paid to the key management personnel of UOW Pulse Limited during the year are as
follows:
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17 Key Management Personnel Disclosures

(b) Remuneration of Executive Officers

2018

$

2017

$

Remuneration payments made to Executive Officers

Short term employee benefits 678,253 221,534

Other long term employee benefits 12,487 -

Termination benefits 28,928 -

Post-employment benefits 71,907 20,392

Total Remuneration 791,575 241,926

18 Remuneration of Auditors

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Company:

2018

$

2017

$

Audit Office of NSW   

       Audit of financial statements 78,650 73,100

19 Commitments

(a) Lease commitments

(i) Operating lease commitments

Future Non Cancellable Operating Lease Rentals of Plant and Equipment

The Company has entered into a commercial lease for computer equipment. The computer equipment lease is
for three years. There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases.The GST
component of operating lease commitments for the year 2018 is $9,130 (2017: $14,071)

2018

$

2017

$

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non
cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

Within one year 74,977 123,691

Later than one year but not later than five years 57,793 149,038

Total Operating lease commitments 132,770 272,729
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19 Commitments

(ii)     Operating lease commitments receivable

   The Company has entered into commercial property leases for office space and food outlets.

        These non cancellable leases have remaining terms of between one and five years. Leases are based on net        
 sales and/or fixed amounts with a clause included to enable upward revision of the rental charge on an annual 
 basis according to prevailing market conditions.

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non cancellable operating leases in the aggregate and for 
each of the following periods are:

2018

$

2017

$

Receivable - minimum lease payments:

Within one year 1,192,438 921,112

Later than one year but not later than five years 1,798,909 1,598,494

2,991,347 2,519,606

Several tenants annual rent is based on a percentage of their turnover for the year.  Contingent rent of $438,043
including GST (2017: $454,238) was received by the Company in the period. The total GST component of operating
lease commitments receivable for the year 2018 is $271,941 (2017: $137,839)

(iii) Hire purchase commitments 

The Commercial Hire Purchase Liability is an umbrella facility of up to $1,270,000 that the Company can draw on for
the purchase of equipment. It is renewable every 12 months.  Interest is payable on each drawdown within the facility
at the market rate prevailing at the time of the drawdown.  As at 31 December 2018 the unused portion of the facility
was $951,609 (2017: $559,646) and the portion of the facility in use was $318,391 (2017:$710,354).

(b) Capital commitments

The Company has a contractual obligation to purchase within the next 12 months, $21,534 of plant and
equipment at reporting date (2017: $97,405). 
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19 Commitments

(c) Finance Lease Commitments

Note

2018

$

2017

$

Commitments in relation to finance
lease are payable as follows:

Within one year 177,828 177,828

Later than five years 154,949 332,777

Total 332,777 510,605

Less: Future lease finance charges (14,397) (32,750)

Recognised as a liability 318,380 477,855

           Representing lease liabilities:

           Current (note 13(a)) 166,838 159,475

           Non-Current (note 13(b)) 151,542 318,380

           Total 318,380 477,855

20 Related Parties

(a) Directors' Transactions with UOW Pulse Limited

From time to time Directors of related parties or their Director related entities may purchase goods or services
from UOW Pulse Limited. These purchases are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by the
employees of UOW Pulse Limited, or customers and are trivial or domestic in nature.

Aside from the remuneration for services rendered as an employee of the Company disclosed in Note 17(b) no
Director has entered into any other material contract with the Company since the end of the previous financial
year.

(b) Transactions with related parties

UOW Pulse Limited has a related party relationship with the following entities:
The University of Wollongong (Ultimate Controlling Entity)
UOW Global Enterprises and its controlled entities (UOWC Ltd and the Community College of City University
Ltd)

Transactions with the controlling entity The University of Wollongong were as follows:

2018

$

2017

$

Sales of goods and services

- Sales 6,821,142 3,287,191

- Rent received - 172,695
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20 Related Parties
2018

$

2017

$

- Commissions 49,599 57,309

- Grants for specific purposes 185,000 185,000

Total 7,055,741 3,702,195

2018

$

2017

$

Purchases of goods

- Goods and services 3,054,688 1,216,475

From time to time Related Parties of the University of Wollongong, including UOW Global Enterprises and its
controlled entities (UOWC Ltd and the Community College of City University Ltd) may enter into transactions
with the Controlled Entity. These transactions are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by
the Company's employees or customers.

(c) Outstanding balances arising from sales/purchases of goods and services

2018 2017

Current receivables (sales of goods and services)

       Trade receivables 4,852,913 811,570

Current payables (purchases of goods)

      Trade creditors 2,261,560 162,121

21     Economic dependency

The Company's trading activities do not depend on a major customer or supplier.  However, the Company is
economically dependent on the continued existence of the University of Wollongong.

22      Events Occurring After the Reporting Date

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or could
significantly affect the operations of the Company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Company
in future financial years.

23 Contingencies

        There were no known contingent assets or liabilities existing at reporting date (nil at 31/12/2017).

29



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2018

24 Reconciliation of Operating Results After Income Tax to Net Cash Flows From Operating
Activities

2018

$

2017

$

Operating result for the year (471,988) 2,587,486

Non-cash flows in profit:

Amortisation 64,260 550,187

Depreciation 1,314,629 888,494

Net (gain)/loss on sale of non current
assets 28,292 9,331

Changes in assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in trade debtors (4,592,851) (138,222)

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments 195,622 (217,512)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 609,417 198,593

(Increase)/decrease in allowance for
impairment 2,028 (4,372)

(Decrease)/increase in income in
advance 85,744 (74,195)

Increase/(decrease) in trade
creditors/accruals 1,562,021 (1,333,849)

Increase/(decrease) in other operating
liabilities (420) (505)

Increase/(decrease) in other
provisions 178,315 33,386

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from
operating activities (1,024,931) 2,498,822

END OF AUDITED FINANCIAL REPORT.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
The Sydney Business School Pty Ltd 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Sydney Business School Pty Ltd (the 
Company), which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
31 December 2018, the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2018, the Statement of 
Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory information, and the Directors’ 
Statement. 

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2018 and 
of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards 

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report. 

I am independent of the Company in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 



 

 

Other Information 
Other information comprises the Company’s Directors’ Statement for the year ended 
31 December 2018. The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. At the 
date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other information I have received comprise the 
Directors’ Statement. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the PF&A Act and for such internal control as the 
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting except where the Company will be dissolved by an Act of 
Parliament or otherwise cease operations. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf  
The description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

  



 

 

Other Information 
Other information comprises the Company’s Directors’ Statement for the year ended 
31 December 2018. The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. At the 
date of this Independent Auditor’s Report, the other information I have received comprise the 
Directors’ Statement. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements 
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the PF&A Act and for such internal control as the 
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting except where the Company will be dissolved by an Act of 
Parliament or otherwise cease operations. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf  
The description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

  

 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Company carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically 
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

Dominika Ryan 
Director, Financial Audit Services 

 

15 March 2019 
SYDNEY 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
The University of Wollongong USA Foundation 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion  
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of The University of Wollongong USA 
Foundation (the Foundation), which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year 
ended 31 December 2018, the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2018, the 
Statements of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes 
comprising a Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and other explanatory information, and the 
Trustee’s Certification.  

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Foundation as at 31 December 2018 and 
of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards  

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report.  

I am independent of the Foundation in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.  

  



 

 

Other Information 
Other information comprises the Trustee’s Certification for the year ended 31 December 2018. The 
Trustees of the Foundation are responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent 
Auditor’s Report, the other information I have received comprise the Trustee’s Certification. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements  
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the PF&A Act and for such internal control as the 
Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Foundation’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting except where the Foundation will be dissolved by an Act 
of Parliament or otherwise cease operations.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.  
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf  
The description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

  



 

 

Other Information 
Other information comprises the Trustee’s Certification for the year ended 31 December 2018. The 
Trustees of the Foundation are responsible for the other information. At the date of this Independent 
Auditor’s Report, the other information I have received comprise the Trustee’s Certification. 

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information. Accordingly, I do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion on the other information. 

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, I must report that fact. 

I have nothing to report in this regard. 

The Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements  
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the PF&A Act and for such internal control as the 
Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Foundation’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting except where the Foundation will be dissolved by an Act 
of Parliament or otherwise cease operations.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.  
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf  
The description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

  

 

 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Foundation carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

Dominika Ryan 
Director, Financial Audit Services 

 

15 April 2019 
SYDNEY 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
UW Asset Trust 

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial statements of UW Asset Trust (the Trust), which comprise 
the Income Statement and the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the 
period 1 January 2018 to 29 March 2018, Statement of Financial Position as at 29 March 2018, the 
Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the period 1 January 2018 to 
29 March 2018, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.  

In my opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Trust as at 29 March 2018, and of its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the period 1 January 2018 to 29 March 2018 in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards  

• are in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and 
the Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements’ 
section of my report.  

I am independent of the Trust in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards  
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of 
New South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an Auditor-
General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

 
 



 

 

Emphasis of Matter 
I draw attention to Note 1 Basis of Preparation and Note 13 Events Occurring After the Reporting 
Date, in the financial statements. The notes describe the Trustees’ vesting of the Trust on 
29 March 2018, and as a result, the financial statements have been prepared on a non-going concern 
basis. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

The Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements  
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act and for such internal control as 
the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees must assess the Trust’s ability to continue as a 
going concern except where the Trust will be dissolved by an Act of Parliament or otherwise cease 
operations. The assessment must disclose, as applicable, matters related to going concern and the 
appropriateness of using the going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.  
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take based 
on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. 
The description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Trust carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

Dominika Ryan 
Director, Financial Audit services 

 

21 August 2018 
SYDNEY 



 

 

Emphasis of Matter 
I draw attention to Note 1 Basis of Preparation and Note 13 Events Occurring After the Reporting 
Date, in the financial statements. The notes describe the Trustees’ vesting of the Trust on 
29 March 2018, and as a result, the financial statements have been prepared on a non-going concern 
basis. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

The Trustees’ Responsibilities for the Financial Statements  
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the PF&A Act and for such internal control as 
the Trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees must assess the Trust’s ability to continue as a 
going concern except where the Trust will be dissolved by an Act of Parliament or otherwise cease 
operations. The assessment must disclose, as applicable, matters related to going concern and the 
appropriateness of using the going concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion.  
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take based 
on the financial statements. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. 
The description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Trust carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically  
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial 

statements on any website where they may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial statements. 
 

 

 

 

Dominika Ryan 
Director, Financial Audit services 

 

21 August 2018 
SYDNEY 
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